

Factbook Education System: Nepal

CES Chair of Education Systems CES Factbook Education Systems, No. 24, 2022



DMTEC

Editing and Acknowledgement

This Factbook was edited by Gaspare Greco and Ditjola Naço. We want to thank Manuel Sigg and Leotrim Zukaj for the elaboration of the contents.

Contents

Foreword		6
1.	Nepal's Economy and Political System	8
1.1	Nepal's Economy	8
1.2	The Labour Market	11
1.2.1	Overview of Nepal's Labour Market	11
1.2.2	The Youth Labour Index for Low-Income Countries	13
1.2.3	The YLILI for Nepal	13
1.3	Nepal's Political System	14
1.3.1	Overview of Nepal's Political System	14
1.3.2	Politics and Goals of the Education System	15
2.	Formal System of Education	16
2.1	Formal System of Education	16
2.2	Pre-Primary Education	19
2.3	Primary Education	20
2.4	Secondary Education	20
2.5	Postsecondary and Higher Education	21
2.6	Continuing Education (Adult Education)	21
3.	The System of Vocational and Professional Education and Training	23
3.1	Technical and Vocational Education and Training (Upper Secondary Level)	23
3.1.1	Central Elements of TVET Legislation	24
3.1.2	Key Actors	24
3.2	Educational Finances of the TVET System	25
3.2.1	Educational Finances of the TVET system	25
3.2.2	Educational Finances of the PET System	26
3.3	Curriculum Development	27
3.3.1	Curriculum Design Phase	27
3.3.2	Curriculum Application Phase	28
3.3.3	Curriculum Feedback Phase	29
3.4	Supplying Personnel for the TVET System (Teacher Education)	29
4.	Major Reforms in the Past and Challenges for the Future	29
4.1	Major Reforms	29
4.2	Major Challenges	30
5.	References	31
6.	Annex	38

List of Abbreviations

CDC	Curriculum Development Centre
CTEVT	Council for Technical Education and Vocational Training
ECDC	Early Childhood Development Center
EPL	Employment Protection Legislation
GCI	Global Competitiveness Index
GII	Global Innovation Index
GDP	Gross Domestic Product
GER	Gross Enrolment Rate
ICT	Information Communication and Technologies
ILO	International Labour Organisation
ISCED	International Standard Classification of Education
KOF	Swiss Economic Institute
LFPR	Labour Force Participation Rate
MOE	Ministry of Education
MoEST	Ministry of Education, Science and Technology
MPI	Multidimensional Poverty Index
NER	Net Enrolment Rate
OECD	Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development
OJT	On the Job Training
PET	Professional Education and Training
SDG	Sustainable Development Goal
SEE	Secondary Education Examination
SLC	School Leaving Certificate
SSDP	School Sector Development Plan
ТІТІ	Training Institute for Technical Instruction
ТоТ	Training of Trainers

TSLC	Technical School Leaving Certificate
UNESCO	United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization
UGC	University Grants Commission
VET	Vocational Education and Training
VPET	Vocational Professional Education and Training
VPETA	Vocational and Professional Education and Training Act
WEF	World Economic Forum
WGI	World Governance Indicators
YLMI	Youth Labour Market Index

List of Figures

Figure 1:Employment by sector (as % of total employment) (1991-2019)	6
Figure 2: Map of Nepal`s Educational System	13
Figure 3: Figure 3: Development of GER from 2010 to 2020	15
Figure 4: Budget allocation to TVET by year	24
Figure 5: Percentage of TVET Budget in the National Budget by Year	24
Figure 6:Curriculum Development	26
Figure 7:Curriculum Design Phase	27

List of Tables

Table 1:Key Statistics and Information on Nepal	3
Table 2: Head count ratio of MPI in Nepal and neighbouring countries	4
Table 3: Value added and employment by sector (2019)	5
Table 4: Labour force participation rate and unemployment rate by age in 2017	8
Table 5: Labour force participation rate and unemployment by education level	8
Table 6: WGI for Nepal 2010 and 2020	.11
Table 7: NER and GER in 2019	.14

Foreword

The increasing competitiveness of the world economy as well as the high youth unemployment rates after the worldwide economic crises in 2008/9 have put pressure on countries to upgrade the skills of their workforces. Consequently, vocational education and training (VET) has received growing attention in recent years, especially amongst policy-makers. For example, the European Commission defined common objectives and an action plan for the development of VET systems in European countries in the Bruges Communiqué on Enhanced European Cooperation in Vocational Education and Training for 2011-2020 (European Commission, 2010). In addition, a growing number of US states and other industrialized, transition, and developing countries (for example Hong Kong, Singapore, Chile, Costa Rica, Benin and Nepal) are interested in either implementing VET systems or making their VET system more labour market–oriented.

The appealing outcome of the VET system is that it improves the transition of young people into the labour market by simultaneously providing work experience, remuneration and formal education degrees at the secondary education level. If the VET system is optimally designed, VET providers are in constant dialogue with the demand-side of the labour market, i.e. the companies. This close relationship guarantees that the learned skills are in demand on the labour market. Besides practical skills, VET systems also foster soft-skills such as emotional intelligence, reliability, accuracy, precision, and responsibility, which are important attributes for success in the labour market. Depending on the design and permeability of the education system, VET may also provide access to tertiary level education (according to the ISCED classification): either general education at the tertiary A level or professional education and training (PET) at the tertiary B level. PET provides occupation-specific qualifications that prepare students for highly technical and managerial positions. VET and PET systems are often referred to together as "vocational and professional education training (VPET)" systems.

Few countries have elaborate and efficient VPET systems. Among these is the Swiss VPET system, which is an example of an education system that successfully matches market supply and demand. The Swiss VPET system efficiently introduces adolescents to the labour market, as shown by Switzerland's 2007-2017 average youth unemployment rate of 8.1 percent compared to 14.8 percent for the OECD average (OECD, 2017).

Though not many countries have VPET systems that are comparable to Switzerland's in terms of quality, efficiency and permeability, many have education pathways that involve some kind of practical or schoolbased vocational education. The purpose of the CES Education System Factbook Series¹ is to provide information about the education systems of countries across the world, with a special focus on vocational and professional education and training.

In the CES Factbook Education Systems: Nepal, we describe Nepal's vocational system and discuss the characteristics that are crucial to the functioning of the system. Essential components comprise the regulatory framework and the governance of the technical and vocational education and Training (TVET) system, the involved actors, and their competencies and duties. The Factbook also provides information regarding the financing of the system and describes the process of curriculum development and the involved actors.

The Factbook is structured as follows: First, we provide an overview of Nepal's economy, labour market, and political system. The second part is dedicated to the description of the formal education system.

¹ From 2013 to 2019, the Factbooks were produced within the framework of the Education Systems research division at the KOF Swiss Economic Institute. From 2020 they will be produced by the Chair of Education Systems (CES) group.

The third section explains Nepal's vocational education system. The last section offers a perspective on Nepal's recent education reforms and challenges to be faced in the future.

Suggested citation:

CES Chair of Education Systems (2022). Factbook Education Systems: Nepal. CES Factbook Education Systems, ed. 1. ETH Zurich.

The Education System Factbooks have to be regarded as work in progress. The authors do not claim completeness of the information which has been collected carefully and in all conscience. Any suggestions for improvement are highly welcome!

Contact: factbook@ethz.ch

1. Nepal's Economy and Political System

Table 1: Key statistics and information on Nepal

Category	Outcome
Population	29,192.480
Area	147,181 km ²
Location	South Asia
Capital City	Kathmandu
Government	Federal Multiparty Republic
Official Language	Nepali
National Currency	Nepali Rupee (NPR)

Source: Own table based on the Central Bureau of Statistics (2022a).

One of the main purposes of an education system is to provide the future workforce with the skills required by the labour market. The particularities of a country's economy and labour market are critical factors that determine the current and future demand for skills. Therefore, they are briefly described in this first chapter of the factbook. In addition, this chapter provides an overview of Nepal's political system with an emphasis on describing key statistics and information about Nepal.

1.1 Nepal's Economy

Nepal is a landlocked country in South Asia with a gross domestic product (GDP) per capita of US\$ 1,155.1, which is one of the lowest in the world. Compared with its peer countries,² Nepal's GDP per capita is considerably low. In particular, the difference between Nepal's GDP per capita and that of China is significant.

Between 1990 and 2020, Nepal's GDP grew at an annual rate of 4.6%. In the same period, Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) countries grew at a rate of 1.9%. Although Nepal's growth rate is above average among OECD countries, it has still been significantly lower than that of neighbouring countries. More crucially, it is relatively moderate for a developing economy.

More recently, considering the growth rate of the real GDP prior to the COVID-19 pandemic, Nepal's Central Bureau of Statistics reported a growth rate of 6.5% (Central Bureau of Statistic, 2022a). Compared with the growth rates Bangladesh (8.2%), Bhutan (4.4%), India (3.7%), and China (5.9%), Nepal's

² GDP per capita od peer countries US\$ 3,000.8 (Bhutan), US\$ 1,927.7 (India), US\$ 1,961.6 (Bangladesh) and US\$ 10,434.8 (China)

economy grew considerably faster in 2019 (IMF, 2022). The growth rate contracted by 2.1% in 2020, indicating that the economy handled the COVID-19 crisis well given the circumstances. Still, 15% of Nepal's population lives in extreme poverty, surviving on less than US\$ 1.90 a day (World Bank, 2021).

Moreover, the economic crisis caused by the global COVID-19 pandemic confronted the country with numerous challenges. As a result, less privileged households have faced the risk of falling back into extreme poverty (World Bank, 2022b). In addition, Nepal suffers from the problem of large infrastructure gaps and is highly exposed to natural disasters. The Multidimensional Poverty Index (MPI) assists in understanding the sources of poverty in Nepal more profoundly. The MPI reflects the intensity of deprivation and the proportion of people who live under deprivation (head count ratio) with respect to the three dimensions of education, health, and living standards. Table 2 illustrates the different indicators of the MPI and the resulting MPI for Nepal and its peer countries:

Dimension	Indicators	Nepal	Bhutan	India	China
Health (dep-	Nutrition	9.34	12.69	21.21	3.362
%)	Child mor- tality	1.0	12.73	2.23	0.036
Education (deprivation	Years of schooling	11.64	29.74	11.67	1.992
in %)	School at- tendance	3.48	8.66	5.54	1.786
Living	Cooking fuel	16.26	27.84	26.15	2.771
(deprivation	Sanitation	6.52	22.09	24.62	0.867
in %)	Water	2.66	3.26	6.23	1.775
	Electricity	5.5	20.57	8.64	0.031
	Flooring and roofing	16.28	30.86	23.64	NA
	Assets	10.32	18.68	9.54	0.717
MPI		0.074 MICS (2019)	0.175 MICS (2010)	0.123 DHS (2015–2016)	0.016 CFPS (2014)

 Table 2: Head count ratio of MPI in Nepal and neighbouring countries

Source: Own table based on the University of Oxford (2021).

Nepal has an MPI of 0.074, which is higher than that of China. On the other hand, the MPIs of India and Bhutan are 0.123 and 0.175, respectively, which are considerably higher. Crucially, the latest available MPI of Bhutan is from 2010 and is therefore outdated. This is significant since the MPI decreased from 0.185 in 2010 to 0.074 in 2019. Consequently, it is difficult to compare the MPIs across the aforementioned countries.

Table 3 provides an overview of the value added and share of overall employment by sector for Nepal and the European Union's 27 Member States (EU-27). The data on the employment rates in Nepal were obtained from the 2017/18 Nepal Labour Force Survey. Examining the value added in both Nepal and the EU-27, the tertiary sector accounted for the largest share. More specifically, it contributed 60.4% of the GPA in Nepal and 73.1% in the EU-27, meaning that its contribution was significantly higher in the EU-27. However, the tertiary sector employed only 47.6% of the workforce in Nepal, whereas it employed 72.9% in the EU-27.

Furthermore, the employment rate in the secondary sector was 30.8% in Nepal and only 22.6% in the EU-27, which is significantly lower. This observation contradicts the relative importance of the sector with regard to value added. In Nepal, the secondary sector accounted for a considerably lower share of value added compared with the EU-27, indicating the presence of cost- and labour-intensive industries.

In general, a central characteristic of developing countries is the significant role of the primary sector. Accordingly, the value added of the primary sector in Nepal accounted for 25.8% of the GDP compared with 1.8% in the EU-27. A similar pattern can be observed for the employment rate of this sector. Thus, the primary sector is still a vital component of Nepal's economy.

Sector	Nepal: Value added (2021; %)	EU-27: Value added (2021; %)	Nepal: Em- ployment (2017; %)	EU-27 Em- ployment (2017; %)
Primary sector	25.8	1.8	21.5	4.5
Agriculture, hunting and forestry, fishing	25.8	1.7	21.5	4.5
Secondary sector	13.1	25	30.8	22.6
Manufacturing, mining, and quarrying, and other industrial activities	7.4	19.5	17.0	16
of which: Manufacturing	5.1	16.2	15.1	14.4
Construction	5.7	5.5	13.8	6.6
Tertiary sector	61.1	73.1	47.6	72.9
Wholesale and retail trade; repairs; hotels and restaurants; transport; information and communication	24.8	23.3	28.1	27.1
Financial intermediation; real estate, rent- ing & business activities	18.1	15.8	3.4	3.3
Public administration, defence, education, health, and other service activities	18.1	34.0	16.1	42.5

Table 3: Value added and employment by sector

Source: Own table based on the Central Bureau of Statistics (2017, 2022b) and the World Bank (2022).

The Global Competitiveness Index (GCI) measures the competitiveness of an economy based on the set of institutions, policies, and factors that determine the level of productivity within the economy. In the 2019 Global Competitiveness Report issued by the World Economic Forum (WEF), Nepal ranked 100th out of the 141 included countries. Despite its relatively low overall ranking, Nepal reached 37th in *Macroeconomic Development* and 72nd in *Financial Market Development*. However, Nepal underperformed compared with the overall rating in the indicators of *Infrastructure* (131st), *Technological Readiness* (128th), *Innovation* (126th), and *Business sophistication* (126th) (WEF, 2019).

The Global Innovation Index (GII) determines the innovative capability of an economy based on the input to innovation, such as infrastructure or human capital, as well as the innovative output that an economy produces. In 2021, Nepal ranked 111th out of 132 countries, performing better in the input dimension (99th) than in the output dimension (116th). While Nepal ranked relatively highly in terms of *Business Sophistication* (59th) and *Market Sophistication* (68th), it ranked far worse internationally in terms of *Knowledge and Technology Outputs* (121st), *Human Capital and Research* (115th), and *Institutions* (115th) (WIPO, 2021).

1.2 The Labour Market

This section discusses Nepal's labour market. The first subsection describes the general situation of Nepal's labour market, while the second subsection focuses on the youth labour market in particular.

1.2.1 Overview of Nepal's Labour Market

Over the last years, Nepal's labour market has been rapidly adapting from a rigid structure to a new system to improve workplace cooperation and industrial relations. Legal reforms are restructuring the country's institutional framework and the revision of the Labour Law has allowed for further developments in its labour market. To this end, the Nepali Parliament approved the introduction of the Labour Law in 2017. The new legislation aims to govern working conditions, employment relations, and health and safety standards. Additionally, it acknowledges the right to form and join unions and introduces significant refinements. For example, the new legislation categorises the informal sector as well as ensures provisions for medical insurance and accident insurance within both the formal and informal sectors. Although the new legislation introduced is adapted for each Nepali worker, its implementation, especially within the informal economy, remains challenging (ITUC-NAC, 2019).

Nepal's population has a large proportion of young citizens. Due to the significant population growth rate of past years, 50% of Nepal's population is aged below 25 years. Hence, employment opportunities must be created to avoid high unemployment rates among the working-age population, and specifically for youth. The most recent labour market survey from 2017 indicated that high unemployment rates among young Nepalis are leading to significant outflows of young professionals from Nepal. Moreover, external labour migration is a vital part of Nepal's labour market, since 28% of Nepal's workforce is employed abroad (Central Bureau of Statistics, 2018). According to the Ministry of Foreign Affairs (MOFA), 500,000 Nepalis took up foreign employment in 2014. To this end, Nepal has entered into bilateral contracts with certain destination countries. These agreements aim to regulate the labour market process, creating the potential for recruitment fraud and wage theft. Indeed, recent reports have indicated precarious circumstances for Nepali workers in Qatar (Kathmandupost, 2022). Critically, almost 95% of migrant workers are men, as legislation prohibits women aged under 25 years seeking foreign employment. This restricts the labour market mobility of women to illegal migration, making them more vulnerable to being exploited by foreign employers (ITUC-NAC, 2019). In sum, external labour migration is a vital component of Nepal's labour market and economy, as reflected in the total remittances received in 2020, which accounted for 25% of the GDP (NRB, 2022).

The labour market is typically divided into a formal sector and an informal sector. The latter is not covered by formal employment conditions, such as paid leave or social security contributions. A significant proportion of Nepal's workforce is informally employed. The share of the workforce employed in the informal sector is declining; however, informal work is still crucial in Nepal. The new Labour Law enables workers in the informal sector to access the same working conditions as formal workers. Nevertheless, the registration of informal workers is burdensome since most live in far-flung areas (ITUC-NAC, 2019).

Moreover, the minimum wage in Nepal is relatively high compared with other countries in South Asia and has been increasing in recent years. By contrast, the country's social protection is relatively moderate. Recent reforms have aimed to increase social protection significantly and address structural inequalities. Generally, Nepal's social security is divided into (1) social insurance, (2) labour market intervention, and (3) social assistance (ITUC-NAC, 2019).

Table 4 summarises the labour force participation rate (LFPR) and the unemployment rate by age group in Nepal and OECD countries. Nepal's unemployment rate is higher in each age category. It has one of the youngest populations in Asia, and the unemployment rate among the 15–24 age group is 21.4%, which indicates a high youth unemployment rate. Consequently, a large fraction of youth leaves the country to search for unskilled or low-skilled work abroad.

Considering the LFPR, only 28.6% of those aged 15–24 years actively engage in the labour market. According to the International Labour Organization (ILO), more than 70% of the economically active population in Nepal is involved in the informal economy, which may explain the significant discrepancy with the OECD average (ILO 2022 and OECD 2022). Comparing the LFPR between genders, the participation rate of female Nepalis is significantly lower, differing by 25.4 percentage points between men and women. Thus, significant disparities in labour market outcomes exist across age and between genders.

	Labour force participation rate		Unemployment rate		
Age group	Nepal	OECD average	Nepal	OECD average	
Total (15–64 years)	38.5	71.5	11.4	7.3	
Youth (15–24 years)	28.6	45.9	21.4	15.0	
Adults (25–54 years)	58.9	81.6	9.1	6.5	
Adults (55–64 years)	28.6	63.7	4.9	5.2	

Table 4: Labour for	ce participation	n rate and unem	plovment rate	by age in 2017
	oo partioipatioi	i lato alla allolli	prograduit ato	

Source: Own table based on the Central Bureau of Statistics (2018) and International Labour Organization (2022).

Table 5 illustrates the LFPR and the unemployment rate in Nepal and the OECD averages grouped by educational attainment in 2017. Considering unemployment, the proportion of people with no secondary education among the unemployed workforce is marginally higher than the OECD average. However, a different picture emerges for higher education. For example, the unemployment rate among citizens with a secondary education is 6.4 percentage points higher in Nepal compared with the OECD average. The LFPR of Nepal's population increases with the level of education and peaks among the population with higher education.

Table 5: Labour force participation rate and unemployment rate by educational attainment in2017 (% of total working population)

	Labour force participation rate		Unemployment rate		
Education level	Nepal	OECD average	Nepal	OECD average	
No secondary education	35.5	44.1	11.1	10.6	
Secondary education	50.9	62.0	15.3	8.5	
Tertiary education	67.5	76.7	8.4	6.1	

Source: Central Bureau of Statistics (2018) and International Labour Organization (2020).

1.2.2 The Youth Labour Index for Low-Income Countries

Building on the KOF Youth Labour Market Index (Renold, Bolli, Egg, & Pusterla, 2014), which primarily relies on high-income country data, Kudrzycki et al. (2020) proposed an **index for low-income countries**. This index, which is the first to combine indicators specifically tailored to the realities of low-income countries, provides an assessment of individual countries' progress in addressing the needs of young workers. The Youth Labour Index for Low-Income Countries (YLILI) helps to make a complex and multidimensional phenomenon more tractable by generating country-specific rankings that allow for comparisons across countries.

To construct the index, **12 youth-specific labour market indicators** were selected from three broad dimensions that best reflect the situation of youth in the labour market: the transition from education to the labour market, working conditions in the labour market,

and educational background. The indicators were obtained from three reputable compilers of international data – namely the ILO, UNESCO, and the Demographic and Health Surveys. The index score is calculated as the arithmetic mean of the three dimensions and is scaled to vary from 0 (dysfunctional youth labour market) to 100 (functioning youth labour market).

First, the transition dimension reflects the **quantity of employment** for youth and encompasses the following: (1) the share of youth not in employment, education, or training (NEET), which captures the share of inactive youth; (2) the relative unemployment ratio, which measure the degree to which unemployment affects young people more than adults; and (3) the skills mismatch rate, which indicates whether unemployment disproportionately affects those with high or low education.

 Dimensions and indicators of the YLILI Transition Share of youth not in education, employment, or training (NEET rate) Relative unemployment ratio Youth skills mismatch rate Working conditions Youth working poverty rate Youth time-related underemployment rate Share of youth in informal employment Vulnerable youth employment rate Share of youth in elementary occupations Share of youth in agriculture, fishery, or forestry Education Youth with no secondary education Youth illiteracy rate Harmonised test scores 	
 Transition Share of youth not in education, employment, or training (NEET rate) Relative unemployment ratio Youth skills mismatch rate Working conditions Youth working poverty rate Youth time-related underemployment rate Share of youth in informal employment Vulnerable youth employment rate Share of youth in elementary occupations Share of youth in agriculture, fishery, or forestry Education Share of youth with no secondary education Youth illiteracy rate Harmonised test scores 	Dimensions and indicators of the YLILI
 Working conditions Youth working poverty rate Youth time-related underemployment rate Share of youth in informal employment Vulnerable youth employment rate Share of youth in elementary occupations Share of youth in agriculture, fishery, or forestry Education Share of youth with no secondary education Youth illiteracy rate Harmonised test scores 	Transition - Share of youth not in education, employment, or training (NEET rate) - Relative unemployment ratio - Youth skills mismatch rate
Education - Share of youth with no secondary education - Youth illiteracy rate - Harmonised test scores	 Working conditions Youth working poverty rate Youth time-related underemployment rate Share of youth in informal employment Vulnerable youth employment rate Share of youth in elementary occupations Share of youth in agriculture, fishery, or forestry
	Education - Share of youth with no secondary education - Youth illiteracy rate - Harmonised test scores
Source: Kudrzycki et al. (2020)	Source: Kudrzycki et al. (2020)

Second, the working condition dimension captures the

quality of employment and contains the following six indicators: (1) the youth working poverty rate measures the proportion of working youth in poverty; (2) the youth underemployment rate measures the share of employed youths who are willing to increase their workload; (3) the informal employment rate captures the share of young people employed without contracts and/or social security; (4) the vulnerable employment rate measures the share of own account workers and contributing family workers; (5) the share of workers in elementary occupations measures the proportion of young workers in low-skilled basic tasks, which may require great physical effort and can carry a high risk of injury; and finally (6) the share of workers in agriculture complements the previous indicator as the jobs are generally low-paid and labour-intensive.

Finally, the education dimension captures the **skill level of youth** and comprises (1) the proportion of youth with no secondary education, (2) the proportion of illiterate youth, and (3) a measure of schooling quality in the form of harmonised test scores.

1.2.3 The YLILI for Nepal

For Nepal, all of the YLILI indicators mentioned in Section 1.2.2 have been observed. Nepal received a Total YLILI score of 70.81 and thus ranked 13th out of a total of 54 low-income countries. While Nepal's performance in the indicators of *Transition* and *Working Conditions* is only average, the indicators of *Total Elementary Occupation* and *Underemployment Score* rank 45th and 41st, respectively, making

them Nepal's weakest indicators. In the *Total Secondary Schooling Rate*, *Mismatch Score*, and *Education*, Nepal outperforms its peers by ranking 5th, 11th, and 15th, respectively (Kudrzycki, Günther, & Lefoll, 2020).

1.3 Nepal's Political System

Understanding the basics of a country's political system and getting to know the political goals with respect to its education system are crucial for understanding the education system in a broader sense. Therefore, Section 1.3.1 presents Nepal's political system in general, and then, Section 1.3.2 focuses on the politics and goals of the education system.

1.3.1 Overview of Nepal's Political System

Before 1950, the political system of Nepal was predominantly based on an authoritarian monarchy. Subsequently, a prodemocratic campaign succeeded in establishing a constitutional monarchy and multiparty democracy with the king remaining the head of state. Transitioning from an oligarchic social order to a well-functioning democracy was demanding and resulted in weak governments. Consequently, a sequence of Maoist rebellions erupted supported by the rural population, who felt disregarded by the new government. Moreover, a tragedy in the royal family and a royal coup staged by the king's successor in 2006 put Nepal back into a monarchy, resulting in political unrest. However, the anti-regime movement forced the king to reinstate the parliament. As a result, an interim constitution was introduced in 2007, which consigned the political power to the prime minister. In May 2008, the first Constituent Assembly formally abolished the monarchy. The political system was structured as a federal democratic republic with the president as the head of state and the prime minister as the head of government (Nepal Country Report 2022, 2022).

Subsequently, the first Constituent Assembly encountered difficulty in reaching a consensus on key constitutional articles among the political leaders. In 2012, the Constitution Assembly was dissolved, leading to a coalition government under the Prime Minister until late 2013, which was unable to address the aforementioned constitutional issues. Consequently, an election for a new Constitution Assembly was held, resulting in a return of the Nepali Congress (the main opposition party) in 2014 as the governing political party (MoFA, 2022).

In 2015, a tragic earthquake led to a devastating loss of life and the destruction of infrastructure and property. However, the tragedy catalysed the development of a new constitution and the election of a new prime minister, both in the same year. Under the new constitution, Nepal held elections at the federal, provincial, and local levels. A new government was formed under the leadership of the Nepal Communist Party (NCP). Following an internal dispute, the party splintered into two factions. Consequently, the parliament has yet again been dissolved, although it was restored twice by the Supreme Court in 2020 and 2021 (Bhatta, 2022). Today, the government is formed under the leadership of the Nepali Congress Party (The Kathmandu Post, 2021).

Thus, Nepal's political system has been unstable over the past 30 years and has experienced numerous shifts in political power. The problems are understood, yet solutions remain to be implemented.

The Economist Democracy Index (2021) ranks Nepal 101st out of 167 considered countries and 20th in Asia and Australasia. During recent years, Nepal has lost nine places due to negative changes in civil liberties, the electoral process, and pluralism (Economist, 2021, pp. 40-41). Some of the reasons for this might be the ongoing political crisis, conflicts between different parties, and the dispute over the dissolving of the parliament (IRI, 2021).

Table 6 summarises the Worldwide Governance Indicators (WGIs) issued by the World Bank, which measure six dimensions of governance, and values between -2.5 (bad governance) and 2.5 (good governance) are assigned to each one. Clearly most of the governance indicators have experienced an

improvement between 2010 and 2020. Specifically, the *Political Stability and Absence of Violence* indicator increased from -1.6 to -0.2. Still, for each indicator, Nepal ranks below the median for all countries considered (for which data are available). For example, the government of Nepal is ranked in the 15.9 percentile of the distribution. As previously discussed, Nepal has suffered political instabilities and several power shifts throughout the past 30 years, which are also reflected in the *Government Effectiveness* indicator.

	2010		2020	
Worldwide Governance Indicators	Estimate	Percentile Rank	Estimate	Percentile Rank
Voice and Accountability	-0.4	33.6	-0.1	42.0
Political Stability and Absence of Vio- lence/Terrorism	-1.6	7.6	-0.2	41.5
Government Effectiveness	-0.9	20.1	-0.9	15.9
Regulatory Quality	-0.7	25.4	-0.7	24.5
Rule of Law	-1.0	18.0	-0.5	34.1
Control of Corruption	-0.7	27.6	-0.6	29.8

Table 6: Worldwide governance indicators	s for Nepal (2010 and	2020)
--	-----------------------	-------

Source: Own table based on the World Bank (2022b).

1.3.2 Politics and Goals of the Education System

The highest authority responsible for the education system in Nepal is the Ministry of Education, Science and Technology (MoEST). The responsibilities of the MoEST cover the development of policies, the establishment of educational programmes, and the planning and general management of education, science, and technology in the country (MoEST, 2018). The MoEST embodies the University Grants Commission (UGC), which is responsible for university education, and the Council for Technical Education and Vocational Training (CTEVT), which is responsible for the TVET.

Since the restoration of multiparty democracy in 1990, multiple education plans have been presented. Generally, they have focused on establishing a cogent education system in Nepal and placed education at the centre of the country's development plans. However, Gurung (2012) found a discrepancy between the formulation of policies and the actual implementations for the years 1990–2012. The current education sector plan (ESP) from 2021 to 2030 contains the following five aims:

- First, the plan aims to ensure a smooth federal transition, which entails the coordination of the three tiers of government to ensure certain educational standards;
- Second, the plan aims to prepare the educational sector for shocks and crises similar to COVID-19. The pandemic revealed severe issues, especially in infrastructure. Adequate and sustainable infrastructures for online teaching were scant. Furthermore, teachers were unable to hold online classes and students did not have access to modern digital devices. These issues were not constrained to lower education levels but also emerged in universities and research facilities (Pal, et al., 2021).
- Third, the demographic dividend should focus on the opportunity created by the demographic shift. The working-age population is expected to exceed the nonworking population, leading to opportunities in the educational sector.
- Fourth, the plan aims to provide job opportunities for the youth workforce. The pandemic led to an inflow of Nepali foreign workers who then struggled with unemployment.
- Fifth, the plan aims to restore confidence in public schooling.

However, as discussed earlier, the implementation of education plans has been burdensome in recent years. Nepal is experiencing an institutional transformation, which might lead to further adjustments to the education plans. Additionally, Nepal ranks as one of the most vulnerable countries to climate risk, which leads to severe infrastructure damage to schools and imposes additional stress on students and teachers. Moreover, schools are often used as shelters for affected families, resulting in their closure and the interruption of learning continuity (MoEST, 2021).

2. Formal System of Education

2.1 Formal System of Education

This section aims to provide a brief overview of the education system in Nepal. The introduction of the new constitution in 2015 brought substantial changes and is still to be fully implemented. Thus, the reader is strongly advised to re-evaluate this section.

The education system was restructured with the introduction of the 2016 Education Act and now consists of the basic, secondary, and tertiary education (MoEST 2020). The basic level consists of lower basic (1–5) and upper basic (6–8) grades. The secondary level is split into lower secondary (9–10) and higher secondary (11–12) grades. Generally, three types of schools exist in Nepal:

- Public schools, which are supported by the government;
- Private schools, which are funded with tuition fees;
- Religious schools, which are supported by the government once they are registered with local governments.

Public schools are further divided into the following subcategories: community-unaided schools, community-managed schools, and community-aided schools. Private schools are divided into private trust schools, public trust schools, and private schools. Private schools are highly dependent on the tuition fees paid by parents and are typically privately owned. However, the low teacher–student ratio, teaching of English early on, and high nationwide exam scores indicate higher quality in education (Ezaki, 2018).

As discussed, the new constitution created a novel political framework, resulting in a federal structure of the government. While the transition of power from a central authority to a federal structure is challenging, the new structure is expected to result in more efficient and transparent service delivery. Thus, for the educational sector, the transition to the federal structure is a key element of the recently published educational plan. The involvement of local communities and resources is expected to be encouraged by giving municipalities more autonomy. The federal level is responsible for quality assurance and policy, while the provincial and local units are mostly responsible for service delivery (MoEST, 2021).

Additionally, basic education has been declared a fundamental right of all Nepalis, and the new education act advocates free and compulsory education from grades 1 to 8 and free secondary education from grades 9 to 12 (Governance Monitoring Centre Nepal, 2022).

The goals of Nepali education are as follows: (a) to ensure inclusive and equitable access to quality education and promote lifelong learning for all; (b) to promote a culture of peace, civic awareness, sustainable behaviour, social harmony, and shared values; (c) to promote skills learning and entrepreneurship to contribute to improved and sustained livelihoods, employability, and economic development; (d) to strengthen the application of information and communication technologies (ICT), scientific orientation,

innovation, and the knowledge-based economy; and (e) to strengthen the institutional capacity to enhance the delivery of the education sector (MoEST, 2021).





Source: Own figure based on UNESCO (2022).

Table 5 presents the gross enrolment rate (GER)³ and net enrolment rate (NER)⁴ by education level for 2019. The NER quantifies the total number of students in the theoretical age group for a given education level enrolled at that level, expressed as a percentage of the total population of that age group. The GER quantifies the number of students enrolled at a given education level—irrespective of their age— as a percentage of the official school-age population corresponding to the same level of education. For example, for the primary education level, the NER indicates how many students of typical primary school age are actually enrolled in primary school, while the GER sets the actual number of students in primary education.⁵ Some limitations to using the GER exist. It can exceed 100% due to the inclusion of overand under-aged students because of early or late entrants and grade repetition. In this case, to rigorously interpret the GER, additional information is required to assess the extent of repetition and late entrants, among other things.

Education level	ISCED 2011	NER	GER
ECED and PPE	0	67.2	86.4
Primary education	1	93.8	110.4
Lower basic	1	97.1	119.3
Upper basic	2	90.6	96.1
Secondary education	2–3	47.6	71.4
Lower secondary education	2	69.0	94.6
Upper secondary education	3	26.2	51.5
Compulsory education age group	1–3	N/A	127.57
Tertiary education	5–8	N/A	15.00
Bachelor or equivalent level	6	N/A	18.91
Master and Doctoral level	7	N/A	5.52

Table 7: Net enrolment rate (NER) and gross enrolment rate (GER) in 2019/20

Source: Own figure based on the Centre for Education and Human Resource Development (2020).

The NER in both pre-primary and secondary education is considerably low. With respect to pre-primary education (PPE), this can be explained by the difficulty of accessing early childhood development centres, especially in rural regions, even though PPE has been compulsory in Nepal since 2019. However, the GER for the same education level is 86.4%, which is much higher, suggesting that many parents send their children to PPE when they are older than designated. This picture typically emerges for primary education. With a NER of 93.8%, almost all children of the specified age group attend primary school. Still, many challenges at the primary education level remain, including a poor quality of education and inequity in access. On the other hand, the GER is 110.4%, which is considerably high. One expla-

³ The UNESCO Institute for Statistics (UIS) **Invalid source specified**. defines the gross enrolment rate as the "number of students enrolled in a given level of education, regardless of age, expressed as a percentage of the official school-age population corresponding to the same level of education."

⁴ The UIS **Invalid source specified**. defines the net enrolment rate as the "Total number of students in the theoretical age group for a given level of education enrolled in that level, expressed as a percentage of the total population in that age group."

⁵ A gross enrollment rate of 100 corresponds to a situation where each child in a given country is enrolled in the corresponding education level. A value above 100 could occur due to students who are older than the typical enrolment age for primary education (e.g. have to repeat grade, adult learners). A value below 100 implies that not everyone who is in the typical age for primary education is actually enrolled.

nation for this observation could be that children who enter PPE later than designated would start primary education at an older age. Moreover, the dropout rate is relatively high, and students need to repeat grades due to failing their final examination.

For secondary education, the NER of 47.6% and GER of 71.4% suggest that students might quit school after mandatory education (CEHRD, 2020). Furthermore, the recent reform of 2016, the structural changes to secondary education, and the inaccessibility of secondary education for a large fraction of the population indicate a lack of qualitative data for drawing conclusions about the development of enrolment rates (Unicef, 2022).



Figure 3: Development of the GER from 2010 to 2020 in Primary and Secondary Schools

Source: Own figure based on the Central Bureau of Statistics (2021).

2.2 Pre-Primary Education

Nepal has made considerable progress with PPE. Yet, PPE opportunities in more rural regions and for underprivileged families remain sparse. Early childhood education is provided either by the government and consists of Early Childhood Development Centres (ECDCs) or by privately owned kindergartens. ECDCs are free of charge and provided by local communities, while kindergarten fees must be paid for by parents. Kindergarten can mostly be found in urban areas. While the language of instruction in EC-DCs is Nepali, kindergartens often also incorporate English (Bhandari, 2017). The Nepali government has agreed to ensure that 90% of children have access to early childhood development (Ezaki, 2018).

Since EDCDs are not compulsory and not accessible for every child, their enrolment rates are moderate. In 2019, the Center for Education and Human Resource Development (CEHRD) reported a NER of 67.2% for early childhood education. The GER is 86.4%, which suggests that some children enter EC-DCs later than expected (CEHRD, 2020).

However, attendance at the lowest quintile of income distribution is approximately 12% (Governemnt of Nepal & Unicef, 2018). Prior to the educational reform of 2016, school-based pre-primary classes were offered. Now, children attend ECEDs at the age of 3–4 years and enter primary school at the age of 5 (World Education News + Reviews, 2018). Thus, an inequality in access to ECEDs exists. According to

UNICEF, girls, and children from less privileged backgrounds (e.g., from a low caste) are less likely to attend PPE (Unicef, 2020).

In sum, the goal of early childhood development in Nepal is to pass the following competences to the children: (1) the use of language for expression and communication; (2) the identification of nutritious food items and daily use; (3) healthy habits and good social behaviour, demonstrating the model as required; (4) the adoption of personal security measures; (5) the use of thematic learning and creative thinking in the process of performing daily tasks; and (6) involvement in all-round development activities and the use of basic skills in them (NPC, 2020).

2.3 Primary Education

Basic education in Nepal is compulsory and free of charge, consisting of eight years of schooling. Grades 1–5 are categorised as the lower basic level, while grades 6–8 are the upper basic level.

Children typically enter the lower basic level at the age of 5 years, which includes grades 1–5. As discussed, public schools are free of charge, while tuition fees for private schools must be paid for by parents. Subjects covered at the primary education level include Nepali, English, mathematics, sciences, social sciences, and physical education (Devkota & Bagale, 2015).

For the 2019/20 school year, the dropout rate at the lower basic level was relatively high at 4.8%, while the repetition rate was 12.8%. This observation is to a certain extent attributable to the low NER in PPE. Approximately 30% of children entering grade 1 had not experienced PPE. To counter this, NCE Nepal (2016) suggested 1 year of compulsory PPE, which was implemented in 2019.

After passing the lower basic level, students enter the upper basic level, which is also compulsory and free of charge at government schools. The upper basic level lasts for 3 years. Similar to the lower basic level, passing is based on students reaching a specific grade. In addition to the subjects at the lower basic level, students can choose some elective subjects.

The NER in primary schools is 93.8% (2019), which is high. This means that most children in Nepal attend school. However, the GER is 110.4%, which suggests that a considerable number of students are older than the theoretical age group that should be attending primary school (CEHRD, 2020).

Basic education in Nepal is confronted with numerous challenges. In some schools, only 13% of students are fluent in Nepali, which hinders their learning. Furthermore, many schools cannot reach the minimum standards and 29% of students drop out by grade 8. Another challenge is the inclusion of children with special needs. Schools are often not accessible for wheelchairs and children with disabilities do not have specific facilities or provisions to ensure a learning environment adapted to their needs (Unicef, 2018).

2.4 Secondary Education

Secondary education in Nepal is divided into two parts. After the successful completion of the upper basic level, students are eligible to enter the lower secondary level. Theoretically, students entering the secondary level are 13 years old. Secondary education in Nepal is free but not compulsory. This is clearly observed in the decrease in the NER from primary to secondary education.

The lower secondary education consists of two years split into grades 9 and 10. At the end of grade 10, nationwide examinations are held (Comfort & Karkee, 2016). Students who pass grade 10 receive a Secondary Education Examination (SEE) certificate. However, only a fraction of the students in public

schools manage to obtain an SEE certificate, which stands in contrast to the high proportion of passing students in private schools.

After passing the nationwide examinations at the end of grade 10, students face two distinct options:

- Attending upper secondary education at an academic high school consisting of grades 11 and 12: Nationwide examinations are held at the end of grades 11 and 12. After the exams, students receive a certificate.
- Entering Technical and Vocational Education (TVET): Generally, students study for 1.5 years after passing the SEE to obtain a pre-diploma and for 3 years to receive a diploma. The Council for Technical Education and Vocational (CTEVT) is responsible for conducting nationwide examinations.

The NER in secondary schools is 47.6%, which is considerably lower than that of primary schools. The relatively high dropout rate at the lower secondary level and the nonmandatory nature of secondary education might explain the low NER. As expected, the GER is higher, which indicates that students are older than the usual students in secondary education (CEHRD, 2020).

2.5 Postsecondary and Higher Education

Higher education is offered at 11 universities in Nepal, among which Tribhuvan University is the largest and oldest. Campuses can be constituent, privately owned, or subsidised by local communities. Tertiary education in Nepal is not mandatory and the universities charge fees. All universities in Nepal are overseen by the University Grants Commission (UGC) (World Education News + Reviews, 2018).

The university admission requirements depend on the institution and programme. Commonly, a minimum requirement is to pass the national examination at the end of the final year of secondary education. Students with a diploma, either from a standard secondary school or vocational secondary education, are eligible to enrol in a Bachelor programme unless it has some special requirements. However, a significant proportion of students fail the final examination at the end of the upper secondary level. Moreover, for engineering and medicine programmes, entrance exams must also be passed. The theoretical age for entering the bachelor level is 17 years. Depending on the field of study, the duration required to obtain a bachelor's degree is 3–4 or 5 years. After successfully obtaining a bachelor's degree, students have the option to enter a master's programme, which has a theoretical duration of 2 years. Finally, there is the option of enrolling in a Ph.D. programme, the duration of which is usually 3–5 years (MoEST, 2021).

The GER of tertiary education is 15.3%, which is considerably lower than that in OECD countries (CEHRD, 2020).

2.6 Continuing Education (Adult Education)

In 2020, only 58% of the adult population aged over 15 years were literate in Nepal. Over the last 30 years, the literacy rate among adults has increased substantially from 33% to 58%. However, the improvement of the literacy rate has stagnated, as indicated by the rate being 56.5% in 2013. The low literacy rate is mainly driven by the female population. Indeed, the gender gap is significant in Nepal with regard to the literacy rate (MoEST, 2021).

Compared with that in peer countries, the adult literacy rate in Nepal is relatively low. India (74%) and China (97%) have been able to increase the literacy rate in recent decades substantially.

Nepal is eager to move towards the Sustainable Development Goal (SDG) 4.6, which is as follows: "[B]y 2030, ensure that all youth and a substantial proportion of adults, both men and women, achieve literacy

and numeracy" (UN, 2015). UNESCO together with several NGOs have started a programme to teach Nepalis the basic skills of reading, writing, and numeracy. After a pilot phase starting in 2016, 8-month Basic Literacy Classes (BLC) were introduced throughout the country, where an experiential approach to the learning process is used to engage learners actively. The programme has been implemented successfully and there is a plan to make BLC accessible to a wider population (ILL UNESCO, 2020).

3. The System of Vocational and Professional Education and Training

3.1 Technical and Vocational Education and Training (Upper Secondary Level)

In Nepal, students can enter Technical and Vocational Education and Training (TVET) programmes under the CEHRD or the CTEVT. The entry conditions for the programmes differ marginally. TVET under the CEHRD starts at the lower secondary level, where the entry requirement is the completion of the upper basic level (UNESCO Institute for Statistics, 2019). Under the CTEVT, students must finish grade 10 to enter the programme. The CTEVT has offices in seven provinces and the 429 affiliated institutes are spread throughout the country, making it the largest organisation offering TVET (CTEVT, 2020).

Considering the number of enrolled students, programmes under the CTEVT are larger compared with those under the CEHRD. As mentioned, the entry requirement for TVET under the CTEVT is to pass the final examination at the end of the upper basic level. These programmes typically last 18 months, 12 of which are spent undertaking in-classroom training. Then, the students experience 6 months of on-the-job (OJT) training (Bardal, Kemper, & Maldonado-Mariscal, 2019). Nepal has more nonformal TVET programmes than formal ones, since a large fraction of the economy is informal. The nonformal programmes are highly diverse in terms of duration, accessibility, and quality (Bardal, Kemper, & Maldonado-Mariscal, 2019).

Moreover, TVET is organised differently under the CEHRD and the CTVET. Under the CTEVT, it is offered (1) in its constituent schools, (2) in partnership with community institutions, (3) in community schools, or (4) in private institutions. By contrast, the CEHRD offers TVET in general schools with technical and vocational education specialised subjects throughout grades 9–12 (Ministry of Education, Science and Technology, 2019).

No age restrictions exist for TVET schools; however, students are typically aged between 16 and 22 years. A fraction of the classroom training comprises Nepali, English, and Mathematics. The remainder consists of vocationally oriented topics. Usually, workplace learning starts after the completion of the final examination of the in-classroom training and focuses on the teaching of job-specific skills. The providers of workplace learning are government agencies, semi-government corporations, companies, and community-based organisations. At the end of the in-classroom training, the students must pass a final exam (Bardal, Kemper, & Maldonado-Mariscal, 2019). The CTEVT currently offers 260 short-term training curricula, 49 diploma-level curricula, 33 pre-diploma-level curricula (including apprenticeship), and nine curricula for professional courses in fields ranging from engineering and agriculture to health and hospitality (Bajracharya, 2022).

Furthermore, the programmes differ in enrolment capacity and availability at different schools. In 2019, the Diploma in Civil Engineering and the Diploma in Agriculture, with enrolment capacities of 5568 and 4680, respectively, were the two largest programmes. The programme Biomedical Equipment Engineering enrols only 30 students and is therefore the smallest programme offered (Ministry of Education, Science and Technology, 2019). Approximately 80% of students manage to pass the final exam and

graduate, most of them on their second attempt. Students who obtain a diploma are likely to obtain a job in the formal sector (Bardal, Kemper, & Maldonado-Mariscal, 2019).

The TVET programmes offered by CEHRD schools do not charge tuition fees and are financed by public funds. Private schools do collect tuition fees and are profit-oriented. In recent years, such programmes have been criticised for not considering the concerns of the private sector. However, the participation of the private sector has increased in recent years (Bardal, Kemper, & Maldonado-Mariscal, 2019).

Vocational education is well structured and provides students with crucial skills for finding employment in the formal sector. It offers OJT training, which is completed at the end of the programme. Furthermore, its duration is only 6 months, which is significantly shorter than that in Switzerland, where the OJT training, depending on the apprenticeship, lasts for 3–4 years. The diploma at the end of the programme offers a degree that is recognised by the private sector (Council for Technical Education&Vocational , 2020).

In addition to formal TVET, there are also nonformal TVET programmes. Nepali society is divided into different castes and ethnicities. Different castes were traditionally involved in distinct traditional occupations. However, these skills and occupations are not included in the TVET system. An example of such a profession is pottery, traditionally conducted by the caste group Kumale in Thimi. By learning from a master, apprentices learn the art of pottery. This nonformal education is provided by the Kumale community and is only accessible in some areas of the country and for members of that community. Typically, graduates from a nonformal apprenticeship end up working in the informal sector (Bardal, Kemper, & Maldonado-Mariscal, 2019).

3.1.1 Central Elements of TVET Legislation

The education system of Nepal is governed by the newly reformed Constitution of Nepal in 2015. Based on the new constitution and the Eighth Amendment of the 1971 Education Act, which ensures compatibility between and among educational institutions, the School Sector Development Plan (SSDP) has been developed. The SSDP encompasses Nepal's education sector, including nonformal education and basic education. Additionally, it offers a framework for secondary education, including vocational secondary education. Among the goals of the SSDP is the strengthening of technical education and vocational education and improving their quality (Ministry of Education, 2016).

The Council for Technical Education and Vocational Training Act 1988 formed the legal basis for the establishment of the CTEVT. The council is responsible for systemising and maintaining the quality of technical education and vocational training, for maintaining coordination among various agencies that provide such training, and for determining the standard of skills and certifying them (Government of Nepal, 1988).

3.1.2 Key Actors

Government

The CTEVT, which operates under the MoEST, is responsible for vocational training and education in Nepal. It was constituted in 1989 and is, besides the CEHRD, a national autonomous apex body of TVET. Its main responsibilities are formulating policy, providing advice regarding TEVT policy and programmes, being responsible for quality control, and preparing the competency-based curriculum, as explained further later. Other responsibilities include developing the skill standards for various occupations, which is mainly important for short-term programmes. People's skills are tested through examinations at the end of programmes. For example, the CTEVT is responsible for the pre-diploma and diploma examinations at the end of secondary TEVT. Last but not least, the CTEVT conducts research studies and training (CTEVT, 2022).

Representation and advisory bodies

According to the CTEVT Act 1988, two supreme bodies are responsible for managing secondary TEVT in Nepal, namely the CTEVT Council and the CTEVT Assembly. The Assembly consists of 24 members and the Council is the governing board. The Assembly is responsible for formulating policies, approving budget and policies formulated by the council, and providing a general direction to any organ or member of the CTEVT. The Council is responsible for determining the scope and standards of programmes, determining policies, establishing and operating polytechnic schools, and implementing TVET curricula (Nepal, 2010). Both bodies are chaired by the MoEST and consist of various representatives. Some of the members come from government institutions, such as members of the National Planning Commission, Public Service Commission, Ministry of Industries Commerce and Supplies, Ministry of Labour Employment and Social Security, and Ministry of Tourism, Culture and Civil Aviation. The private sector is also represented on the CTEVT Council, such as through the Federation of the Nepali Chamber of Commerce and Industry. However, CTEVT programmes have been criticised for not sufficiently considering the concerns of the private sector. Today, efforts are ongoing to improve the situation. Last but not least, representatives from academia form the last group of members of the CTEVT Council. They include personnel form the largest university together with other universities and academic institutions (Bardal, Kemper, & Maldonado-Mariscal, 2019).

3.2 Educational Finances of the TVET System

3.2.1 Educational Finances of the TVET system

When examining the financing of the TVET system, the distinction between public and private TVET schools can be observed to be significant. Private schools are profit-oriented and financed through tuition fees, whereas public schools are financed by public funds. The following elucidation concerns public TVET schools' financing. The reform of the political system and the adoption of a federalised system impacted the financing of the TVET system. However, the country is still in the process of transitioning to the new system. Before the reform, the Ministry of Finance in coordination with the National Planning Commission allocated and transferred funds to the MoEST, which granted a budget to the CTEVT. After the CTEVT received the funds, it distributed them to its constituent schools through the corresponding District Treasury Control Office (Parajuli, Renold, Bhandari, & Lamsal, 2020).

However, after the formation of the federal, provincial, and local governments in 2017, the federalisation is expected to have impacted the educational finances of the TVET system. With the Local Government Operation Act 2074, TVET has been categorised as the exclusive function of local governments. Thus, schools cannot receive any funds directly from the federal or provincial government. In the new federal system, all three levels of government have their own treasury. Local governments are meant to finance their expenses through tax revenues and grants from higher-level governments (Parajuli, Renold, Bhandari, & Lamsal, 2020).

Figure 4 indicates a significant increase in the budget allocated to TVET from 2007/08 to 2016/17, from approximately 5,000 million Nepali rupees annually in 2013 to 20,000 million in 2016. However, how sustainably this budget is allocated and how much of it is allocated to formal TVET programmes remain fuzzy.

Figure 4: Budget Allocation to TVET by Year



Source: Parajuli, Renold, Bhandari, & Lamsal, 2020.

However, TVET spending as a percentage of the national budget has remained stagnant, since approximately 2% of the national budget has been allocated to TVET for the past 9 years. Although TVET education has been prioritised in government policy documents, the fraction of the national budget allocated to TVET has remained constant over recent years, as illustrated in Figure 5.





Source: Parajuli, Renold, Bhandari, & Lamsal, 2020.

Crucially, TVET education in Nepal is not only financed by national public sources. A considerable part (37% in 2017) is financed through foreign sources. The largest proportion of this foreign aid (approx. 80%) consists of grants, while approximately 20% consists of loans for 2007–2017 (Parajuli, Renold, Bhandari, & Lamsal, 2020).

During OJT training, apprentices receive a wage, which is paid by the company that conducts the training. The legally prescribed minimum wage for apprentices is 28 Swiss francs per month. The average apprentice's wage is 45 Swiss francs per month, which is considerably higher than the minimum wage and slightly lower than the average income of Nepalis. Significantly, the apprentices already earn almost the average wage during their apprenticeship (KOF Swiss Economic Institute, 2020).

3.2.2 Educational Finances of the PET System

Since professional education at the postsecondary level are provided by universities, the financing of the programmes goes hand in hand with common tertiary education at universities. In 2009, the percentage of the education budget spent on tertiary education was 9.92%. The main sources of funding for higher education institutions in Nepal are (a) government grants managed by the University Grants Commission (UGC); (b) student fees; (c) donations from various organisations and individuals; and (d) other sources, including rents and leases. Government funding consists of either regular or developmental funding. While public campuses heavily rely on government funds, private campuses are mainly financed through tuition fees (Asian Development Bank, 2015).

3.3 Curriculum Development

The curriculum is a central element for the functioning of a TVET system because it defines the system's framework and the (quality) standards. The development of a curriculum can be decomposed into the following three-step process: curriculum design, curriculum application, and curriculum feedback. This theoretical concept is called the curriculum value chain and is depicted in Figure 6 (for more details, see Renold et al. 2015; Rageth & Renold, 2019):



Figure 6: Curriculum Development

Source: Renold et al. (2015) and Rageth & Renold (2019).

In the curriculum design phase, the relevant actors decide upon the TVET curriculum's content and qualification standards. Therefore, the discussion in Section 3.3.1 focuses on the degree and the amount of stakeholder participation concerning curriculum design in Nepal. The curriculum application phase revolves around the implementation of the curriculum. Because learning environments differ substantially across countries, especially with respect to the prevalence of workplace learning, Section 3.3.2 focuses on the learning environments. Specifically, it addresses where learning takes place and whether the curriculum dictates both school and workplace learning or only one of the two. Finally, curriculum outcomes can be collected and analysed in the curriculum feedback phase, which Section 3.3.3 focuses on. This evaluation process is vital because it could render a more refined curriculum design than was originally possible.

3.3.1 Curriculum Design Phase

The design phase is crucial for the curriculum process. To ensure that skills taught in the VPET programmes correspond to the needs of the labour market, experts from companies should be involved in defining the qualification standards and learning the content of the curricula.

The Curriculum Development Committee (CDC), which is a body within the CTEVT, is responsible for the preparation of the qualification standards of Technical School Leaving Certificate programmes, which entails all higher education programmes under the CTEVT (CTEVT, 2022). These standards list competences and abilities that should be developed during the programme. All courses offered by the CTEVT or affiliated institutions are designed by the Curriculum Development Division (CDD) of the

CTEVT. Depending on the trade and occupation, there is a team of experts who develop the curricula. First, the involved experts decide which subjects to include in the programme. The designated team considers the information and feedback of other institutions. Furthermore, the weekly resources for inclassroom training are allocated and the provisions of examinations and the assessments are created, including the certification process. Subsequently, the draft created by the CDD is finalised by the Technical Subject Committee (TSC), which is composed of experts from programme-related fields. Finally, the CDC, chaired by the Member-Secretary, rejects or approves the curriculum. The TSC has the final vote on the programme. Experts such as teachers, the state, and employers actively engage in creating the curriculum. Figure 5 depicts the general process of curriculum design by the CTEVT (Bardal, Kemper, & Maldonado-Mariscal, 2019):





Source: Bardal, Kemper, & Maldonado-Mariscal (2019).

3.3.2 Curriculum Application Phase

The manner in which a curriculum is implemented, especially with respect to learning environments, is important for achieving the intended learning outcome.

The TVET curriculum is mainly applied by public, private, and community technical schools and focuses on practical learning. Tertiary programmes are conducted by affiliated campuses of universities under the CTEVT's supervision. However only approximately 20% of the programme consists of practical training, with the remaining 80% being theoretical learning. Theoretical learning occurs in the classroom, whereas the practical training is conducted through workplace learning. The Technical Division of the CTEVT prepares a framework which guides workplace learning. This includes regulations on how learning, supervision, and evaluation should be implemented. The content, instructors, and assessment criteria of the workplace learning are not covered by those guidelines. Although the CTEVT conducts regular supervision and monitoring, the quality and provision of infrastructure vary considerably from institution to institution. Only public schools receive money from the government to improve their infrastructure.

Internal assessments, such as theoretical and practical examinations and the yearly examination, are directly taken by the individual technical schools. The final exam, however, is conducted by the Office of Controllers of Examination, a subsection of the CTEVT. The workplace learning and in-classroom training are assessed separately, and students are sent to workplace learning after passing the final examination of in-classroom training (Bardal, Kemper, & Maldonado-Mariscal, 2019).

3.3.3 Curriculum Feedback Phase

The collection of feedback on the TVET programme lacks an established procedure and mechanism. There is no designated evaluation body under the CTEVT. Nevertheless, some feedback on the programmes occurs during the workplace learning supervision and evaluation by the CTEVT through different communication channels. Another form of feedback is collected through interactions with education providers and employers. This occurs rather informally through discussions between employers and associates of the CTEVT. This feedback is used for the curriculum update and revision process (Bardal, Kemper, & Maldonado-Mariscal, 2019).

3.4 Supplying Personnel for the TVET System (Teacher Education)

The body responsible for training teachers for the TVET system is the Training Institute for Technical Instruction (TITI). The TITI offers instructor training at different levels, such as Instructional Skills 1, Instructional Skills 2, and Training of Trainers (ToT). Even though the TITI exists, the majority of teachers have never received any specific instructor training. Moreover, such training is only offered for instructors at government technical schools and some community technical schools. Since most teachers at private schools are only employed on a temporary contract, they often do not receive any training, and therefore, it is also not mandatory. In some cases, those instructors are experienced technicians from local industries and enterprises (Bardal, Kemper, & Maldonado-Mariscal, 2019). A possibility also exists to obtain a bachelor's degree in Technical Education. This programme is affiliated with Kathmandu University. It lasts 4 years and has the goal of preparing instructors, teachers, or trainers in technical subjects and extension work in the community. Currently, no data are available regarding how many people become VPET teachers out of the total number of teachers (TITI, 2022).

4. Major Reforms in the Past and Challenges for the Future

4.1 Major Reforms

The reform of Nepal's political system into a federal structure has also had an impact on TVET education. To implement the reform of Nepal's constitution in 2015, an agreement between the Government of Nepal and UNICEF – namely a "country action plan" – has been developed, which is meant to be implemented between 2018 and 2022. Responsibilities for basic education, secondary education, and nonformal education have been transmitted to the seven provinces and the 753 local levels to improve accountability and cooperation with local partners and communities. Besides federalising the education system, its goal is to implement affirmative action for women and lower castes. This means making education more available for them, geographically as well as financially, and extending the mandatory years of schooling. Further short-term professional education is also provided to improve their financial situation. Another example is literacy classes for older people (Bardal, Kemper, & Maldonado-Mariscal, 2019).

The federalisation of the different school levels has also changed and extended the mandatory school years as well as the subsequent examinations. Hand in hand with that reform, a separate TVET track was added to the school system. Under the guidance of the Department of Education, students now

have the possibility to opt for this track after grade 8 and continue it until grade 12. After grade 10, they will take the same SEE as all other secondary students and thereafter have the possibility to stay on the TVET track or change to the general education track. The reform replaced the simple pass/fail system with grades from A (the highest score) to E (the lowest). Taking the SEE is the minimum requirement to continue with upper secondary school after grade 10. In contrast to the old system, students can enter the pre-diploma programme with any grade. Students on the TVET track can earn the pre-diploma, which is conducted by the CTEVT. The duration of the pre-diploma programmes has been adapted from 15 and 29 months to a general duration of 18 months for all programme (Bardal, Kemper, & Maldonado-Mariscal, 2019).

4.2 Major Challenges

The TVET education in Nepal faces various challenges. One of them is the insufficient consideration of the private sector's concerns. Another challenge, especially in public schools, is that teachers lack special instructor training and are only employed on a short-term contract. Additionally, not all schools meet the quality standards regarding infrastructure and equipment, and those standards can vary considerably from school to school. OJT training, on the other hand, lacks specific guidelines regarding the content as well as the requirements for instructors (Bardal, Kemper, & Maldonado-Mariscal, 2019). Nepalese society still suffers from discrimination against lower castes, despite legal provisions against discriminatory practices, which also impacts enrolment in education programmes (Baral, 2019).

Another challenge is that only a small proportion of students choose the vocational track. This is related to the fact that TVET education was not well established until recently and has a rather weak reputation, especially because of the differing quality levels between institutions. Moreover, many parents want their children to follow an academic career path instead of learning work and skills. Furthermore, many people are not aware that these programmes even exist. Vocational secondary education is also not available everywhere across Nepal. In addition, too little reliable information exists about training institutions and their performance, which makes it difficult for students and employers to compare them (Basnet, 2014).

Even though Nepal has increased investment in TVET, its efficiency and output have not increased. There is also a serious lack of information, especially financial information, which leads to severe problems regarding planning and decision making. This has created planning hazards, and therefore, a large risk exists that the implemented programme will fail to achieve its intended objectives. Improving this is one of the keys to improving the effectiveness of TVET funding in Nepal (Renold, Bolli, & Caves, 2018).

5. References

- Asian Development Bank. (2015). Retrieved from https://www.think-asia.org/bitstream/handle/11540/6468/InnovativeStrategiesinHIGHEREDUCATION_Nepal 6th WEB.pdf?sequence=1
- Bajracharya, S. N. (2022). *Nepal Economic Forum*. Retrieved from Overview of Technical and Vocational Education in Nepal: https://nepaleconomicforum.org/overview-of-technical-and-vocational-education-in-nepal/
- Baral, D. (2019). Retrieved from https://ethz.ch/content/dam/ethz/special-interest/dual/r4dtvet4income-dam/documents/WP_4_Positioning%20Informal%20Skills%20Learners%20in%20Nepals%20TVET%20System.pdf
- Bardal, D., Kemper, J., & Maldonado-Mariscal, K. (2019). ETHZ. Retrieved from https://ethz.ch/content/dam/ethz/special-interest/dual/r4d-tvet4income-dam/documents/WP_7_CrossCase_Study_Nepal.pdf
- Basnet, K. B. (2014). Regulation of Technical Education and Vocational. *TVET Development Journal*, 1(13).
- Bhandari, R. (2017). Early Childhood Education and Development in Nepal: Access, Quiality and Professio0nalism. *Prima Educatione*.
- Bhatta, C. D. (2022, 06 15). *Nepal's political and economic transition*. Retrieved from https://www.orfonline.org/expert-speak/nepals-political-and-economic-transition/
- CEHRD. (2020). Retrieved from Flash Report 1 2019/2020: https://cehrd.gov.np/file_data/mediacenter_files/media_file-17-1589823848.pdf
- *Central Bureau of Statistic.* (2021). Retrieved from Economic Survey 2020/21: https://cehrd.gov.np/file_data/mediacenter_files/media_file-17-1589823848.pdf
- Central Bureau of Statistic. (2022a). Retrieved from https://cbs.gov.np/gdp-2021/
- Central Bureau of Statistic. (2022b). Retrieved from https://cbs.gov.np/pgdp_2077-78/
- *Central Bureau of Statistic*. (2022c). Retrieved from https://cbs.gov.np/nepal-labour-force-survery-iii/
- Central Bureau of Statistics. (2018). Retrieved from https://cbs.gov.np/nepal-labour-force-survery-iii/

- Collegenp. (2021). Retrieved from https://www.collegenp.com/article/early-child-developmentecd-curriculum/
- Comfort, J., & Karkee, R. (2016). NGOs, Foreign Aid, and Development in Nepal. *Frontiers in Public Health*.
- Council for Technical Education&Vocational . (2020). Retrieved from http://ctevt.org.np/ctevtmapping/

CTEVT. (2019).

- CTEVT. (2020). Retrieved from http://ctevt.org.np/ctevtmapping/
- CTEVT. (2022). Retrieved from http://www.ctevt.org.np/introduction
- CTVET. (2022). Retrieved from http://ctevt.org.np/tecs#:~:text=The%20goal%20of%20Annex%20programme,other%20organization%20in%20TEVT%20programme
- Devkota, S. P., & Bagale, S. (2015). Primary Education and Dropout in Nepal. *Journal of Education and Practice*, 153-157.
- Dutta, S., Lanvin, B., & Wunsch-Vincent, S. (2015). *The Global Innovation Index 2015: The Human Factor in Innovation.* Fontainebleau, Ithaca, and Geneva: Cornell University, INSEAD, and WIPO.
- Economist. (2016). *Democracy Index 2016: Democracy and its Discontents.* London: The Economist Intelligence Unit Limited.
- Economist. (2021). *Democracy Index 2020: In sickness and in health?* London: The Economist Intelligence Unit Limited.
- Encyclopedia Britannica. (2022). Retrieved from https://www.britannica.com/place/Nepal
- Eurostat. (2015a). Gross Value Added and Income by A*10 Industry Breakdown (nama_10_a10). Retrieved from http://appsso.eurostat.ec.europa.eu/nui/show.do (September 14, 2015).
- Eurostat. (2015b). *Employment by A*10 Industry Breakdowns (nama_10_a10_e)*. Retrieved from http://appsso.eurostat.ec.europa.eu/nui/show.do (September 14, 2015).
- Ezaki, N. (2018). Enrolment patterns of individual children left behind in the trend towards 'quality education': A case study of primary education in Nepal. *International Journal of Primary, Elementary and Early Years Education*, 520-533.
- Ghimire, S. (2011). Retrieved from https://link.springer.com/content/pdf/10.1007/978-94-6091-391-4.pdf

- *Governance Monitoring Centre Nepal.* (2022). Retrieved from http://gmcnepal.org/education-policy-summary/
- Governemnt of Nepal, & Unicef. (2018). *Unicef.* Retrieved from https://www.unicef.org/nepal/media/191/file/CPAP%202018-2022.pdf
- Government of Nepal. (1988). Retrieved from http://ctevt.org.np/uploads/files/admin_ctevt_act2045(eng).pdf
- Government of Nepal, K. (2019). *Nepal National Framework on Sustainable Development Goal 4.* Retrieved from https://moe.gov.np/assets/uploads/files/SDG_4_Nepal_National_Framework_(Final_Print_Ready_Copy)_July_2020.pdf
- Helvetas. (2022). Retrieved from https://www.helvetas.org/en/switzerland/what-we-do/howwe-work/our-projects/asia/nepal/nepal-enssure-skill-project
- IBE UNESCO. (2006). Retrieved from http://www.ibe.unesco.org/fileadmin/user_upload/archive/Countries/WDE/2006/ASIA_and_the_PACIFIC/Nepal/Nepal.htm
- ILL UNESCO. (2020). Retrieved from https://uil.unesco.org/case-study/effective-practices-database-litbase-0/ageing-nepal-basic-literacy-classes-older-persons
- ILO. (2022). *The latest decent work statistics by country*. Retrieved from Country profiles: https://ilostat.ilo.org/data/country-profiles/
- *IMF*. (2022). Retrieved from https://data.imf.org/?sk=388dfa60-1d26-4ade-b505a05a558d9a42
- IRI. (2021). Retrieved from https://www.iri.org/news/nepals-democracy-in-peril/
- ITUC-NAC. (2019). Update on Labour Market Profile of Nepal. Retrieved from https://itucnac.org/public/uploads/files/contents/LMP_Nepal_2019_(Final_version1).pdf
- *Kathmandupost.* (2022, 08 24). Retrieved from https://kathmandupost.com/money/2022/08/24/qatar-expels-nepali-migrant-workers-for-joiningprotest
- KOF Swiss Economic Institute. (2020). Retrieved from https://kof.ethz.ch/en/news-andevents/kof-bulletin/kof-bulletin/2020/07/Is-dual-vocational-training-worthwhile-for-companies-in-Nepal.html#:~:text=In%20Nepal%20the%20legally%20prescribed,thus%20above%20the%20prescribed%20level.
- Kudrzycki, B., Günther, I., & Lefoll, E. (2020). Youth Labor Market Index for Low Income Countries. Zurich: KOF Swiss Economic Institute, ETH Zurich: LELAM Working Papers No.
 13.

- Ministry of Education. (2016). Retrieved from http://doe.gov.np/assets/uploads/files/87b3287f8f46c497c2cb97d7d4504f5a.pdf
- Ministry of Education, Science and Technology. (2019). Retrieved from file:///Z:/FACTBOOKS%20Education%20Systems/Nepal/Sources%20Manuel/TVET_report_final_feb_5_2019.pdf
- MoEST. (2021). Nepal: Education Sector Analysis.
- MoFA. (2022). Retrieved from https://mofa.gov.np/about-nepal/history-of-nepal/
- N. I., & American Institute for Research. (2017). Nepal Education Sector Analysis. Retrieved from https://www.globalpartnership.org/sites/default/files/2019-05-nepal-educationsector-analysis.pdf
- *NCE Nepal.* (2016). Retrieved from EDUCATION BEYOND 2015: https://ncenepal.org.np/wpcontent/uploads/2020/12/Education-Beyond-2015.pdf
- Nepal Country Report 2022. (2022). Retrieved from Nepal Country Report 2022: https://btiproject.org/en/reports/country-report/NPL
- Nepal, G. o. (2010). Retrieved from http://ctevt.org.np/uploads/files/admin_ctevt_act2045(eng).pdf
- NPC. (2020). Retrieved from National Strategy for Early Childhood Development: https://npc.gov.np/images/category/ECD_Strategy_2077-88.pdf
- NRB. (2022). Remittances, Economic Growth and Investment Nexus: Evidence from Nepal . *NRB Economic Review*, 1-21.
- OECD. (2015a). *OECD Employment Outlook 2015.* Paris: OECD Publishing. Retrieved from http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/empl_outlook-2015-en.
- OECD. (2016). OECD Annual National Accounts. Gross Domestic Product (GDP). Retrieved from https://stats.oecd.org/index.aspx?queryid=60702 (July 26, 2016).
- OECD. (2016, July 19). OECD iLibrary. Retrieved from Education at a Glance 2016 Indicator A1 To what level have adults studied?: http://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/education/education-at-a-glance-2016_eag-2016-en
- OECD. (2022a). *LFS by sex and age indicators*. Retrieved from OECD.Stat: https://stats.oecd.org/Index.aspx?DataSetCode=LFS_SEXAGE_I_R
- Pal, K., Basnet, B., Pant, R., Bishwakarma, K., Kafle, K., Dhami, N., . . . Bhatta, Y. (2021). Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC8455144/

- Parajuli, M. N., Renold, U., Bhandari, U., & Lamsal, H. P. (2020). Retrieved from https://ethz.ch/content/dam/ethz/special-interest/dual/r4d-tvet4income-dam/documents/WP_10_Financial_Flows_Nepal_LELAM_final_2Dec19.pdf
- Rageth, L., & Renold, U. (2019). The Linkage between the Education and Employment Systems: Ideal Types of Vocational Education and Training Programs. Journal of Education Policy. doi:10.1080/02680939.2019.1605541
- Renold, U., Bolli, T., & Caves, K. (2018). Retrieved from https://www.econstor.eu/bitstream/10419/184905/1/1027280862.pdf
- Renold, U., Bolli, T., Caves, K., Rageth, L., Agarwal, V., & Pusterla, F. (2015). *Feasibility Study* for a Curriculum Comparison in Vocational Education and Training. Zurich: KOF Studies. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.3929/ethz-a-010713492
- Renold, U., Bolli, T., Egg, M. E., & Pusterla, F. (2014). On the Multiple Dimensions of Youth Labour Markets - A Guide to the KOF Youth Labour Market Index. Zurich: KOF Swiss Economic Institute. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.3929/ethz-a-010699115
- *The Kathmandu Post.* (2021, 07 14). Retrieved from https://kathmandupost.com/politics/2021/07/13/sher-bahadur-deuba-sworn-in-as-nepal-prime-minister-for-fifth-time
- TITI. (2022). Retrieved from https://titi.org.np/course/bachelor-of-technical-education-b-teched-affiliated-with-kathmandu-university/
- Transparency International. (2014). *Corruption Perceptions Index*. Berlin: Transparency International.
- U.S Department of State. (2020). URUGUAY 2020 HUMAN RIGHTS REPORT. Retrieved from Bureau of Democracy, Human Rights and Labor: https://www.state.gov/wp-content/uploads/2021/10/URUGUAY-2020-HUMAN-RIGHTS-REPORT.pdf (March 1, 2022).
- UNESCO. (2020). UNESCO Institute for Statistics. Retrieved from UNESCO UIS: Education; Participation; Enrolment Ratios: http://data.uis.unesco.org/?queryid=142#
- UNESCO. (2022). Retrieved from UNESCO: https://unevoc.unesco.org/home/Dynamic+TVET+Country+Profiles/country=NPL
- UNESCO Institute for Statistics. (2019). Retrieved from https://view.officeapps.live.com/op/view.aspx?src=http%3A%2F%2Fuis.unesco.org%2Fsites%2Fdefaul t%2Ffiles%2Fdocuments%2Fisced_2011_mapping_en_nepal 0.xlsx&wdOrigin=BROWSELINK

- UNESCO Institute for Statistics. (2022). Retrieved from http://data.uis.unesco.org/?queryid=142
- Unicef. (2018). Retrieved from https://www.unicef.org/nepal/media/3331/file/UNICEF%20Nepal%20education%20programme%20.pdf

Unicef. (2020). Retrieved from https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/handle/10986/34574

Unicef. (2022). Retrieved from https://www.unicef.org/nepal/education

- University Grants Commission. (2022). Retrieved from https://www.ugcnepal.edu.np/frontpage/20
- University of Oxford. (2019, 05 22). Oxford Poverty & Human Development Initiative . Retrieved from Mulitdeimensional-Poverty-Index: https://ophi.org.uk/multidimensionalpoverty-index/mpi-country-briefings/
- University of Oxford. (2021, 05 22). Oxford Poverty & Human Development Initiative. Retrieved from Mulitdeimensional-Poverty-Index: https://ophi.org.uk/multidimensional-poverty-index/mpi-country-briefings/
- WEF. (2015). *The Global Competitiveness Report 2015-2016: Full Data Edition.* Geneva: World Economic Forum.
- WEF. (2019). The Global Competitiveness Report. Geneva: World Economic Forum.
- WIPO. (2021). *The Global Innovation Index 2021: Tracking Innovation through the COVID-19 Crisis.* Geneva: World Intellectual Property Organization.
- World Bank. (2014). Worldwide Governance Indicators. Washington: World Bank.
- World Bank. (2016). World Development Indicators. Retrieved from http://databank.worldbank.org/data/reports.aspx?source=2&country=&series=NY.GDP.MKTP.KD.ZG&period= (July 28, 2016).
- World Bank. (2019). Retrieved from https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SE.ADT.LITR.FE.ZS?locations=NP
- World Bank. (2021, May 28). Retrieved from The World Bank In Honduras: https://www.worldbank.org/en/country/honduras/overview#1
- World Bank. (2022). World Development Indicators. Retrieved from http://databank.worldbank.org/data/reports.aspx?source=2&country=&series=NY.GDP.MKTP.KD.ZG&period= (July 28, 2016).

- World Bank. (2022b). *Worldwide Governance Indicators*. Retrieved from The World Bank DataBank: https://databank.worldbank.org/source/worldwide-governance-indicators
- *World Education News* + *Reviews*. (2018). Retrieved from World Education News + Reviews: https://wenr.wes.org/2018/04/education-in-nepal

6. Annex

VET pathway enrolment share out of all upper secondary (%)	3.9%
Program enrolment share out of all VET pathway (%)	Ca 25%
Number of curricula/qualifications	24
Ø Share of time spent in workplace (vs. classroom)	1/3
Work contract (Yes/No)	No
Ø Share of vocation-specific content (vs. general) in classroom edu- cation	N/A
Classroom/workplace sequencing (Alternating, Sequentially)	Sequentially
Frequency of workplace learning (Annually, Semi-annually, quar- terly, monthly, weekly)	Only once at the end of the programme
Program duration	18 months
Involved Actors	CTEVT, Technical Schools, Private Schools
Reform Years	2016
Reforms Summary	After chapter 3

SOURCES: (Bardal, Kemper, & Maldonado-Mariscal, 2019); (UNESCO, 2020) and (Council for Technical Education&Vocational, 2020)

ETH Zürich Chair of Education Systems STB J 20.2 Stampfenbachstrasse 69 8092 Zürich

www.ces.ethz.ch

Publisher: Chair of Education Systems CES Layout: ETH Zürich Photos: Photo by Jeremy Bishop on Unsplash

© ETH Zürich, Mai 2023